


Senate Education Committee
Draft Minutes
152nd General Assembly
Wednesday, April 5, 2023
Senate Hearing Room/Virtual Meeting
12:07 p.m. - 1:22 p.m. 
Committee Members Present:
Senator Laura V. Sturgeon				Laura.Sturgeon@delaware.gov
Senator S. Elizabeth Lockman			Elizabeth.Lockman@delaware.gov 
Senator Kyle Evans Gay				Kyle.Gay@delaware.gov 
Senator Stephanie L. Hansen				Stephanie.Hansen@delaware.gov
Senator Sarah McBride				Sarah.McBride@delaware.gov 
Senator David P. Sokola				David.Sokola@delaware.gov 
Senator Eric Buckson					Eric.Buckson@delaware.gov
Senator Brian Pettyjohn				Brian.Pettyjohn@delaware.gov  

Other Legislators Present:
Senator David L. Wilson				David.L.Wilson@delaware.gov 

Staff:
Kiki Evinger, Senate					Kathryn.Evinger@delaware.gov 
Alexis Wrease, Senate				Alexis.Wrease@delaware.gov 
Daykia Hunter-McKnight, Senate		 	Daykia.Hunter-McKnight@delaware.gov 
Abdulrasheed Dawodu, Senate			Abdul.Dawodu@delaware.gov 


All public registrants, both in person and virtual, are listed in the Appendix










Agenda
HS 81
SB 69

Introduction
Senator Sturgeon commenced the meeting and reviewed the hybrid meeting protocol. She explained the meeting structure and the order in which comments would be taken from the committee members and the members of the public. She proceeded to conduct roll call and verified a quorum was reached.

I. House Bill 81 (Sturgeon): AN ACT TO AMEND TITLE 14 OF THE DELAWARE CODE RELATING TO CHARTER SCHOOL STUDENT TRANSPORTATION.
Synopsis: This Act makes clear that a school district may deny a request from a charter school to have the school district where the charter school is located to transport students residing in that district. If the school district denies the request, the charter school is to receive the payment provided by the State under existing law.
[bookmark: _Hlk130830537]Senator Sturgeon explained that HB 81 clarifies that a school district has the right to deny a charter school’s request for transportation services for students living within the district. She emphasized that the bill does not introduce a new law but rather provides clarity on the existing one. She invited Kim Klein, the Associate Secretary of Operations Support for the Delaware Department of Education (DDOE), to give further explanation on the bill.
Kim Klein, Associate Secretary of Operations Support for DDOE, affirmed Senator Sturgeon's explanation of the bill and added that Delaware law permits charter schools to either ask school districts to provide transportation for students living within the district; or receive state funding that covers transportation costs. She explained that HB 81 specifies that the school district can reject the charter school's transportation request and, in such cases, the charter school can opt for state funding instead.
Senator Sturgeon asked whether the state government is responsible for covering the transportation costs of charter schools if their request for transportation services is denied by the school district. 
[bookmark: _Hlk133073871]Associate Secretary Klein mentioned that the state will provide transportation funding for charter schools if they are denied by the district. She added that, upon receiving such funds, charter schools have the option to either provide transportation themselves or contract with an external agency that can provide transportation services.
Senator Sturgeon asked if charter schools are obliged to expend all of the transportation funds on providing transportation.
Associate Secretary Klein explained that HB 81 includes a provision for charter schools to use any surplus funds for other educational purposes as long as they are able to account for their expenses.
Senator Sturgeon recognized Associate Secretary Klein for her efforts, and then requested comments from the members of the committee or the members of the public.
Robert Overmiller expressed his support for the proposed bill.
Dr. Tammy Croce, Executive Director, Delaware Association of School Administrators, expressed her support for the proposed legislation.
Sherry Long, Restore Delaware, expressed her support for the proposed legislation.
Senator Sturgeon asked if there were other public comments but there were none, she then moved on to the next item on the agenda, SB 69.

HB 81 was reported out of Committee: 8 Favorable; 0 On Its Merits; 0 Unfavorable.

II. Senate Bill 69 (Wilson): AN ACT TO AMEND TITLE 14 OF THE DELAWARE CODE RELATING TO EXEMPTION FROM THE DELAWARE CHILD CARE ACT FOR SECTARIAN OR RELIGIOUS INSTITUTIONS.

Synopsis: In 2021, the General Assembly enacted a law, Chapter 249 of Volume 83 of the Laws of Delaware (Senate Bill 169 of the 151st General Assembly) to update and expand the definition of child care to include early education programs for children below the grade of kindergarten that are operated by public or private schools, including sectarian or religious institutions. This law takes effect on July 1, 2024. This Act exempts sectarian or religious institutions from the Delaware Child Care Act.
Senator Sturgeon invited Senator Wilson to give a presentation on the bill.
Senator Wilson explained that SB 69 proposes some amendments to SB 169, which was passed in the 151st General Assembly regarding the implementation of the Delaware Child Care Act. He noted that the provision in SB 169 expanded the definition of "child care" to include early education programs for children below kindergarten that are operated by both public and private schools. He mentioned that some of the private schools that offer childcare programs are faith-based institutions, and the implementation of the Delaware Child Care Act may negatively impact their operations. Senator Wilson expressed concerns that even though private schools do not receive funding from the state, they are being made to follow the state's guidelines on the social, moral, mental, and educational needs of their students as part of the licensing process. This means that the state has control over the goals and philosophies of private schools, including faith-based ones. He expressed concerns over the prospect of licensing regulations being extended to the schools' philosophy and other religious activities. Therefore, SB 69 proposes an exemption for Pre-K private schools from the licensing regulations in the Delaware Child Care Act that was legislated through SB 169.
Senator Sturgeon requested Senator Wilson to clarify the aspect of the Child Care Act he would like the religious and sectarian schools to be exempted from.
Senator Wilson clarified that the exemption request is for the Pre-K and kindergarten schools. He stated that the licensing gives the state the authority to be involved in the school’s hiring system.
Senator Sturgeon asked if the faith-based schools receive any form of state funding.
Senator Wilson responded that they do not receive any state funding. He added that the schools pay their own bills which also include providing transportation for the students.
Senator Sturgeon asked if the institutions charge for proving child-care and Pre-K service or if they are voluntary.
Senator Wilson responded that the institutions charge the parents for their services.
Senator McBride asked if there are regulations that religious-affiliated institutions are supposed to abide by that applies to both Pre-K schools and post-K schools.
Senator Sturgeon requested Kim Klein, Associate Secretary of Operations Support, DDOE, to respond to some of the follow-up questions.
Associate Secretary Klein clarified that DDOE does not regulate private K-12 schools but they are required to register with DDOE.
Senator McBride asked if the state has oversight authority over K-12.
Associate Secretary Klein confirmed that the state does not regulate K-12 schools.
Senator Lockman asked if the institutions were licensed before SB 169 was passed.
Senator Wilson responded that private Pre-K and faith-based schools were not licensed before SB 169 was passed. 
Senator Lockman asked Senator Wilson if the concerns raised by the constituents regarding SB 169 stemmed from additional cost implications that may be associated with SB 169 regulation or if the concerns were from their aversion of being subjected to state’s regulatory oversight.
Senator Wilson stated that the constituents do not have issues with complying with the state’s regulations. However, they are only concerned with daycare regulation and licensing.
Senator Pettyjohn asked if the licensing process was not applicable to private Pre-K and K12 schools before SB 169. Additionally, he asked if the schools also requested an exemption from the state’s security and safety standards for all schools.

Senator Wilson responded that SB 169 introduced the licensing process for private schools. He mentioned that the state’s safety regulations are complied with by both private and public schools.
Senator Gay requested Senator Wilson to verify if there are health and safety regulatory requirements for Pre-K and K12 private schools.
Senator Wilson responded that there are no health and safety regulatory requirements for Pre-K and K12 private schools even though they comply with the requirements.
Senator Sturgeon requested Associate Secretary Klein to clarify if DDOE has health and safety regulatory requirements for private schools.
Associate Secretary Klein confirmed that DDOE does not have such requirements for private schools. She mentioned that the Division of Public Health may have health and safety requirements. 
Senator Gay asked Senator Wilson to clarify how sectarian and religious organizations are defined in SB 69.
Senator Wilson said he was not sure how to respond to that.
Senator Gay raised a concern that SB 69 does not provide a clear definition of what constitutes a religious organization. She mentioned that she sponsored SB 169 and she would be willing to work with Senator Wilson to explore ways to improve the Delaware Child Care Act. However, she expressed her disagreement with SB 69 that it seeks to introduce exemptions that may negatively impact the existing law.
Senator Wilson said he would be glad to work with her as well.
Senator Sokola supported Senator Gay’s question about what constitutes sectarian and religious organizations. He also suggested that SB 69 be revised properly in order to prevent unintended consequences.
Senator Buckson asked Senator Wilson if the schools had any concerns with the state’s regulations before SB 169 was passed.
Senator Wilson said the schools did not have any concerns before SB 169 was passed.
Senator Buckson opined that SB 169 created more challenges than solutions for the schools. He added that since the schools do not receive state funds, they should be given the choice of how they intend to run their activities.
Senator Sturgeon stated that SB 169 was well thought out and there were no unintended consequences that may arise from it.
Senator Gay requested Senator Wilson to explain why he said the schools did not experience any challenges with health and safety measures before SB 169 was passed.
Senator Wilson said the private schools brought the licensing regulation to his attention. He added that he was in support of SB 169 until he realized that it allowed the state to interfere with the oversight functions of the private schools including the hiring of teachers and the school curriculum. He further explained that SB 169 limits the freedom of parents to choose faith-based schools which are expected to be free from government interference.
Senator Gay said it was clear from the onset that SB 169 is a licensing bill and it does not restrict parents’ choice in any way. She clarified that the licensing process in the bill ensured that the state prioritized the health and safety of the students. She reiterated that she would be glad to work with Senator Wilson on SB 69 in order to ensure students are not being put in danger with the licensing exemption request the bill is pushing for.
Senator Wilson mentioned that there are more safety and security issues in public schools than in private schools and that parents deserve to have a say in private schools’ affairs because they pay the schools for their services. 
Senator Gay expressed her disagreement with Senator Wilson’s statement that public schools have more issues than private schools. She mentioned that the state would not have adequate knowledge of what happens in private schools if they are not licensed. 
Senator Sturgeon invited Patricia Dailey Lewis, CEO of the Beau Biden Foundation, to speak as an expert witness on the possible impact SB 69 could have on children.
Patricia Dailey Lewis, CEO, Beau Biden Foundation, praised Senator Wilson on his efforts in ensuring that the child abuse bill was passed. She stated, however, that licensure and oversight increase the protection of children. She referenced incidents of how Kindergartens are soft targets for violence and abuse. She emphasized the need to have licensure and oversight in order to protect the safety of children in all schools including private religious schools.
Senator Buckson clarified his earlier statement that SB 169 created unintended consequences because the schools were doing a great service before SB 169 was passed. He mentioned that he would be interested in knowing the testimonies of private schools’ stakeholders.
Senator Sturgeon emphasized that the inclusion of religious and sectarian schools in SB 169 was intended and the bill was meant to protect children in all schools. She requested Senator Buckson to focus on SB 69 and the possible unintended consequences it may have. She then opened the public comment period.
Robert Overmiller expressed his support for SB 69. He mentioned that even though there may be corrections that need to be made to the wording but he agreed with the intent of the bill.
Caitlin Gleason, Associate Secretary, Early Childhood Support, DDOE, expressed her department’s backing for SB 169 and how they would be glad to work with Senator Wilson’s constituents in better understanding the licensing process.
Aaron Coon, Head of School, Calvary Christian Academy, expressed his support for SB 69. He mentioned that the existing regulations are contrary to their religious beliefs, especially to their hiring practices. He mentioned that many schools may close as they will be unable to meet up with the regulations in SB 169, and that may contribute to the rate of unemployment in Delaware.
Duane Miller, Head of School, Greenwood Mennonite School, expressed his support for SB 69. He mentioned that they are in support of background checks and other related health and safety procedures. He mentioned, however, that the licensing provision in SB 169 impacts their hiring procedure and also restricts their school from hiring teachers based on their religious affiliations. He emphasized the need for their school to hire teachers who share the same religious ideologies as them. He requested that religious schools be exempted from the licensing process.
Dr. David Perdue, Pastor, First Baptist Church, expressed his support for SB 69. He shared Duane Miller’s views that religious schools do not have issues with the health and safety provisions but they should be exempted from the licensing.
Kristine Iannelli, Policy Director, Delaware Department of Justice, raised drafting concerns about SB 69. She mentioned that the existing procedure regarding a new hire submitting to background checks is important procedure ensuring the safety of children. She highlighted that Delaware’s children may suffer potential harm if the background check procedure is eliminated.
Dr. Roger Erdvig, Headmaster, Wilmington Christian School, expressed his support for SB 69 and affirmed that SB 169’s licensing process contradicts their religious beliefs.
Tania Culley, Child Advocate Delaware, expressed drafting concerns about SB 69. She mentioned that Delaware Child Care Act ensures the safety of children and any organization that engages in child care service should be held to the same general standard provided by the state.
Sherry Long expressed her support for SB 69 and raised concerns over the licensing procedure of the existing legislature.
Jonathan Bradford, Head of School, Concord Christian Academy, expressed his support for SB 69 and mentioned that the existing legislation is contrary to their religious beliefs.  
Senator Gay thanked Senator Wilson and mentioned that she realized from the public’s comments that there may be some misunderstanding in the processes stated in SB 169.
Senator Wilson mentioned that he would be glad to work with Senator Gay and the committee members on improving SB 69.
Senator Sturgeon appreciated the committee members and mentioned that the bill backers will be taken to their individual offices for signature. 
Senator Sturgeon called for a motion to adjourn the meeting.  Senator Lockman made a motion to adjourn and Senator McBride seconded the motion. The meeting was adjourned at 1:22pm.
SB 69 was not released from Committee.

Minutes prepared by Abdulrasheed Dawodu, Legislative Fellow, 4/19/2023

Approval of Meeting Minute
Appendix A: Members of the public pre-registered for webinar and In-person sign-in sheet Attendees

	[bookmark: _Hlk133238166]Kim Klein, Associate Secretary of Operations Support, DDOE

	Robert Overmiller

	[bookmark: _Hlk130905548]Dr. Tammy Croce, Executive Director, DASA

	Sherry Long, Restore Delaware

	Caitlin Gleason, Associate Secretary, Early Childhood Support, DDOE

	Aaron Coon, Head of School, Calvary Christian Academy

	Duane Miller, Head of School, Greenwood Mennonite School

	Dr. David Perdue, Pastor, First Baptist Church

	Kristine Iannelli, Policy Director, Department of Justice

	Dr. Roger Erdvig, Headmaster, Wilmington Christian School

	Tania Culley, Child Advocate Delaware

	Jonathan Bradford, Head of School, Concord Christian Academy

	Patricia Dailey Lewis, CEO, Beau Biden Foundation

	Dr. Elizabeth Brown, DDHS

	Christy Wright, Senate

	








2

